Gold Nanoparticles as Thiophenol Detection Probes

by Emily Pond

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

Honors College

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Bioengineering (Honors Scholar)

> Presented December 6, 2023 Commencement June 2024

AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Emily Pond for the degree of <u>Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Bioengineering</u> presented on December 6, 2023.

Title: Gold Nanoparticles as Thiophenol Detection Probes.

Abstract approved:

Vincent Remcho

The development of simple, rapid, and sensitive methods for thiophenol detection is of great importance in various fields, including environmental monitoring and food quality. Here, we present a novel approach for the colorimetric detection of thiophenols using gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) as the sensing platform. AuNPs aggregate in the presence of thiophenols. The aggregation of the AuNPs causes a bathochromic shift which is qualitatively detected by color change and quantitatively measured using UV-VIS spectroscopy. This AuNP-based colorimetric assay offers a simple and effective method for the detection of thiophenols and has the potential to be further developed for other applications in environmental and biological sensing.

Keywords: Gold nanoparticles, thiophenols, colorimetric assay Corresponding e-mail address: emilypond41@gmail.com ©Copyright by Emily Pond December 6, 2023 Gold Nanoparticles as Thiophenol Detection Probes

by Emily Pond

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

Honors College

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Bioengineering (Honors Scholar)

> Presented December 6, 2023 Commencement June 2024

Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Bioengineering project of Emily Pond presented on December 6, 2023.

APPROVED:

Vincent Remcho, Mentor, representing Chemistry

Konstantinos Goulas, Committee Member, representing Chemical, Biological, and Environmental Engineering

Elain Fu, Committee Member, representing Chemical, Biological, and Environmental Engineering

Toni Doolen, Dean, Oregon State University Honors College

I understand that my project will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University, Honors College. My signature below authorizes release of my project to any reader upon request.

Emily Pond, Author

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Remcho, Dr. Goulas, and Dr. Fu for volunteering their time and supporting me through my thesis process. Thank you to the Remcho lab group, your scientific expertise and comradery made working on my thesis a truly enjoyable experience. In particular, a huge thank you to Erin who had the idea for this project and mentored me through the challenges along the way. Lastly, thank you to my friends and family who supported me along the way even if they didn't always understand what I was doing.

Table of Contents

List of Figures 1
Introduction
Materials and Experimental Methods 10
Reagents and Materials 10
Instruments 10
Gold Nanoparticle Synthesis 11
Beaker
Reflux and filtering method
AuNP and Thiophenol Assays
Varying Thiophenol Concentration Assay
AuNP and ppb Thiophenol Assay 14
Varying Thiophenol Concentration with different sized AuNP15
Results and Discussion
Gold Nanoparticle Synthesis
Beaker
Reflux and Filtering AuNP Synthesis
AuNP and Thiophenol Assay
Varying Thiophenol Assay
AuNP and ppb Thiophenol Assay
Varying Thiophenol Concentration with Different Sized AuNP
Conclusions
Future Work
References:

List of Figures

FIGURE 1. CHEMICAL STRUCTURES OF 3-METHYLBENZENETHIOL (M-TOLUENETHIOL), 4-METHYLBENZENETHIOL (P-TOLUENETHIOL), 2-
METHYLBENZENETHIOL (O-TOLUENETHIOL), AND 2-METHOXYBENZENETHIOL. THE FOUR MAIN THIOPHENOLS (4-
METHYLBENZENETHIOL BEING THE MOST PROMINENT) WERE SELECTED AS ASSAY DEVELOPMENT TARGETS FOR THE WORK DESCRIBED
IN THIS THESIS
FIGURE 2. PHOTONS HITTING A GOLD NANOPARTICLE, CAUSING THE AUNP'S ELECTRONS TO OSCILLATE. ⁷
FIGURE 3. ABSORPTION SPECTRA OF DISPERSED AND AGGREGATED AUNPS
FIGURE 4. SEM IMAGE DEPICTING AGGREGATED AUNPS AND NON-AGGREGATED AUNPS.
FIGURE 5. BEAKER METHOD FOR SYNTHESIZING AUNPS11
FIGURE 6. REFLUX AUNP SYNTHESIS SET UP
FIGURE 7. SYNTHESIS OF GOLD NANOPARTICLES. A) 20ML OF 1MM HAUCL4 WAS BROUGHT TO A BOIL. B) IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE
ADDITION OF $3ML$ of 1% (w/w) sodium citrate solution. The combined solution became a deep blue color. c) after
BOILING, THE SOLUTION TURNED A WINE-RED COLOR WITHIN 1 MINUTE. THIS IS A SOLUTION OF GOLD NANOPARTICLES
FIGURE 8. UV-VIS SPECTRUM OF AUNP MADE ON 5/16/22 WITH THE BEAKER METHOD
FIGURE 9. ABSORBANCE SPECTRA OF AUNP A, B, C, AND D
FIGURE 10. THIOPHENOLS AND AUNPS ASSAY. THE THIOPHENOLS FROM LEFT TO RIGHT ARE P-TOLUENETHIOL, O-TOLUENETHIOL, M-
TOLUENETHIOL, AND 2-METHOXYBENZENETHIOL. ALL THIOPHENOLS AT ALL CONCENTRATIONS APPEAR DEEP BLUE
FIGURE 11. P-TOLUENETHIOL ABSORBANCE SPECTRA. 5 PPM AND 10 PPM ARE AGGREGATED. 50 PPM AND 100 PPM ARE PARTIALLY
AGGREGATED
FIGURE 12. 10 PPM AND 5 PPM ARE AGGREGATED, AND 100 PPM AND 50 PPM ARE SLIGHTLY AGGREGATED FOR M-TOLUENETHIOL23
FIGURE 13. AUNP AND O-TOLUENETHIOL ABSORBANCE SPECTRA. 5 AND 10 PPM INDUCED AGGREGATION WHILE 50 AND 100 PPM
INDUCED ONLY SLIGHT AGGREGATION
FIGURE 14. AUNP AND 2-METHOBENZENETHIOL ABSORBANCE SPECTRA, 5, 10, AND 50 PPM ARE AGGREGATED. 100 PPM IS LESS
AGGREGATED

FIGURE 15. THE ABSORBANCE AT 520 NM OF THE 4 THIOPHENOLS AT VARYING CONCENTRATIONS. LOWER ABSORBANCE THAN THAT OF
AUNP INDICATES AGGREGATION OR PARTIAL AGGREGATION
FIGURE 16. THE ABSORBANCE AT 680 NM OF THE 4 THIOPHENOLS AT VARYING CONCENTRATIONS. HIGHER ABSORBANCE THAN THAT OF
AUNP INDICATES AGGREGATION OR PARTIAL AGGREGATION
FIGURE 17. LOW CONCENTRATION THIOPHENOLS AND AUNPS ASSAY. A MIX OF ALL 4 THIOPHENOLS WERE USED. 1000 PPB AND 500 PPB
ARE DEEP BLUE, 250 PPB IS PURPLE, AND THE REST ARE A SIMILAR WINE RED AS THE CONTROL
FIGURE 18. THE UV-VIS ABSORBANCE SPECTRA OF THE LOW CONCENTRATION THIOPHENOLS AND AUNPS ASSAY. 1000 PPB AND 500 PPB
ARE AGGREGATED, AND 250 PPB IS PARTIALLY AGGREGATED
FIGURE 19. AUNP A (13 NM) WITH 100 PPM, 50 PPM, 5 PPM, 500 PPB, 50 PPB THIOPHENOL IN ROWS B-F. CONTROL AUNP A IS IN
row A. A) Before adding thiophenol. B) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition. 100 ppm and 50 ppm are purple. 5
PPM AND 500 PPB ARE BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED. C) 20 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL
addition. Colors are similar to Figure 25 B
FIGURE 20. AUNP B (16 NM) WITH 100 PPM, 50 PPM, 5 PPM, 500 PPB, 50 PPB THIOPHENOL IN ROWS A-E. CONTROL AUNP B IS IN
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
 ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
 ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED
ROW H. A) BEFORE ADDING THIOPHENOL. B) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION. 100 PPM, 50 PPM, AND 5 PPM ARE PURPLE. 500 PPB IS BLUE, INDICATING AGGREGATION. 50 PPB IS STILL THE ORIGINAL RED

FIGURE 26. ABSORBANCE OF AUNP D (81 NM) 10 MINUTES AFTER THIOPHENOL ADDITION	33
FIGURE 27. ABSORBANCES AT 710 NM FOR EACH AUNP. BLUE INDICATES COMPLETE AGGREGATION, PURPLE INDICATES PARTIAL	
AGGREGATION, AND RED INDICATES NO AGGREGATION.	34

Introduction

Thiophenols are toxic chemicals harmful to the environment and to human health.^{1,2,3} Interestingly, they are also partly responsible for the smoky, ashy flavor of smoke taint in wine.⁴ Although it was initially thought that phenols were the sole contributors of smoky flavor to wine, Tomasino et al. recently reported in *Food Chemistry Advances* that thiophenols are also a contributor to the smoky, ashy flavor of smoke-tainted wine.⁴

Thiophenols are an organosulfur compound present in grapes after smoke exposure. When grape juice is made from smoke-exposed grapes, the characteristic ashy flavor from thiophenols is not present. Those ashy flavors emerge after the fermentation process, yielding smoky wine that is undesirable to consumers and difficult to market.⁵ In recent years, this has cost the wine industry significant financial loss.⁵

Thiophenols can be analyzed using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) or liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS), but these instruments are expensive and require expertise. ⁵ Fluorescent probes are an alternative tool for thiophenol detection. However, fluorescent probes require specific environmental conditions for their function, limiting their use. In addition, naked eye detection of fluorescence is challenging. These methods can have slow detection times and some fluorescent probes are toxic and dangerous to handle, making alternative approaches appealing. ³

These issues necessitate an inexpensive and simple assay for the rapid detection of thiophenols in grapes. In this work, the chief research focus is on gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) as probes for thiophenols in solution. AuNPS have unique chemical and optical properties that enable their use in colorimetric detection.^{-6.7} In this work, thiophenol detection using AuNPs will be compared to detection using a fluorescent probe. This fluorescent probe, 2,4-dinitro-N-(7-nitrobenzo[c] [1,2,5] oxadiazol-4-yl) benzenesulfonamide, is unique in that it can preferentially detect aromatic thiols as opposed to aliphatic thiols.⁸

When evaluating detection methods, the application of smoke taint determination was the primary consideration, but the detection methods developed and described in this thesis could certainly be applied to other areas, such as environmental testing and monitoring.

Some thiophenols that present as significant components in smoke tainted wine include: 3methylbenzenethiol (m-toluenethiol), 4-methylbenzenethiol (p-toluenethiol), 2methylbenzenethiol (o-toluenethiol), and 2-methoxybenzenethiol (Figure 1).⁴ Optimally, the proposed detection methods would be able to detect all four. These thiophenols are present in grapes in parts per trillion (ppt), thus, samples must be pre-concentrated to facilitate detection.



Figure 1. Chemical structures of 3-methylbenzenethiol (m-toluenethiol), 4-methylbenzenethiol (p-toluenethiol), 2-methylbenzenethiol (o-toluenethiol), and 2-methoxybenzenethiol. The four main thiophenols (4-methylbenzenethiol being the most prominent) were selected as assay development targets for the work described in this thesis.

Gold nanoparticles commonly employed in nanomaterials experiments range in diameter from 10 - 100 nm. AuNPs are used in many applications, ranging from drug delivery to sensing.^{7, 10} AuNPs have unique properties related to conductivity, redox behavior, and surface plasmon resonance.⁷ Specific to detection as envisioned for this thesis work is surface plasmon resonance. Surface plasmon resonance occurs when a photon hits a gold nanoparticle of appropriate size and stimulates oscillation of its electrons (Figure 2). To the naked eye, this appears as a red coloration of the solution, and in a spectrophotometer this manifests as a characteristic absorption peak in the range of 500 nm - 550 nm. The wavelength at which surface plasmon resonance presents is dependent on the shape and size of the AuNP.



Figure 2. Photons hitting a gold nanoparticle, causing the AuNP's electrons to oscillate.⁷

AuNPs can be suspended in solution, giving the solution a red or blue color depending on the AuNP's aggregation state. ⁷ AuNPs aggregate in the presence of some chemicals and conditions, thiol-containing amino acid can aggregate AuNPs.⁹ The aggregation of AuNPs results in a bathochromic shift, a shift from shorter to longer wavelengths (from blue to red), of the absorbance spectrum (Figure 3). This is represented in the absorbance spectrum by a decrease in absorbance at the red surface plasmon resonance peak. It was hypothesized that thiophenols will induce AuNP aggregation and different diameters of AuNPs may influence aggregation.



Figure 3. Absorption spectra of dispersed and aggregated AuNPs.

Aggregated AuNP are clustered together and dispersed AuNP are separate from each other (Figure



4).

Figure 4. SEM image depicting aggregated AuNPs and non-aggregated AuNPs.

Although interactions between gold and thiols are well characterized, interactions between AuNPs and thiols are not well understood. Despite being the same chemically, the properties of gold nanoparticles (particularly steric repulsion) make the surface chemistry very different from a bulk gold surface. ¹¹ On gold surfaces, thiols adsorb to the surface forming thiol-gold dative bonds that are not as strong as covalent bonds. ¹⁰ Au-S has a bond strength of 298 ± 2 kJ/mol; covalent bonds are much stronger with a range from 400 kJ/mol to 1000 kJ/mol. ¹⁰ Thiols can be used to cap gold nanoparticles, but specific steps must be taken, otherwise the thiols cause AuNP aggregation.¹² The mechanism for this aggregation has not been elucidated, although it's hypothesized that

aggregation is associated with a loss of surface charge which may be associated with thiophenols adsorbing onto the surface. ¹²

Materials and Experimental Methods

Reagents and Materials

Chloroauric acid was purchased from Company (Location). Sodium citrate dihydrate was purchased from Mallinckrodt Baker, Inc. (Phillipsburg, NJ). 2-methoxybenzenethiol, 4methylbenzenethiol, m-Toluenethiol, and o-Toluenethiol were purchased from TCI (Portland, OR). Methanol was purchased from VWR Chemical (Radnor, PA). Hydrochloric acid was purchased from Fisher Scientific (Hampton, NH). Nitric acid and acetone were purchased from EMD Biosciences Inc. (Gibbstown, NJ). Filter paper cartridge (0.2um PTFE) was purchased from VWR Chemical (Radnor, PA).

Deionized water was obtained from a Milli-Q water purification system (Millipore Milli-Q Advantage A10) from EMD Millipore (Burlington, MA, USA) and used for all solutions unless otherwise specified. Chloroauric acid solution was prepared by diluting chloroauric acid to 10^{-2} % by weight. Citrate solution was prepared with 1% sodium citrate by weight. Stock solutions of 1000 ppm, 100 ppm, 5 ppm, and 1 ppm were made for each thiophenol in methanol. A 1000 ppm thiophenol mix solution was made with equal parts of m-toluenethiol, p-toluenethiol, o-toluenethiol, and 2-methoxybenzenethiol in methanol.

Instruments

Well-plates were read with a SpectraMax 190 Microplate Reader purchased from Molecular Devices (Sunnyvale, CA, USA). AuNP images were taken with FEI Quanta 600F Field Emission Environmental SEM purchased from FEI (Hillsboro, OR).

Gold Nanoparticle Synthesis

Beaker

Gold nanoparticles were synthesized using Turkevich and Fren's method.^{13,14} 50mL of chloroauric acid solution was heated in a 100 mL or 150mL beaker with a stir bar on a hot plate until boiling with a watch glass over the top to prevent evaporation (Figure 5). All glassware was rinsed with aqua regia and then washed.



Figure 5. Beaker method for synthesizing AuNPs.

Citrate solution was added to the boiling chloroauric acid solution. Different volumes were added to make different diameters of AuNPs (Table 1).¹³

Table 1. Volume of sodium citrate solution added and its predicted effect on AuNP diameter.

Volume of sodium citrate solution (µL)	AuNP Diameter (nm)
1000	16
750	24.5
500	41.0

300	71.5
210	97.5
160	147.0

After the sodium citrate solution was added, the combined solution was boiled and stirred until the solution changed color from yellow to blue to wine red (or in the case of larger AuNPs, slightly purple). The bluish color after adding the sodium citrate solution indicates the formation of gold nuclei.¹⁵ The solution's red color indicates the formation of nanoparticles. The AuNPs were stored in amber containers to protect the AuNPs from degradation due to light. They were stored in the refrigerator.

The diameters of the AuNPs were experimentally determined by measuring the absorbance at the surface plasmon resonance (A_{spr} the absorbance peak) with the spectrophotometer and then plugging A_{spr} into Equation 10 and 11 from Haiss's paper.¹⁶

Reflux and filtering method

Due to inconsistencies with the beaker method, the reflux method was used. The set-up is pictured below in Figure 6. All glassware was washed and then rinsed with aqua regia before use. A 500mL Florence flask was set on a hot plate with a stir bar inside. A glass adapter was put on top of the flask and then a condenser was put on top of that. The condenser had cold water flowing from bottom to top through it. This method does not allow vapor to escape during the boiling process, ideally giving more consistent results than the beaker method where vapor could escape.



Figure 6. Reflux AuNP synthesis set up.

The chloroauric acid solution was boiled and the sodium citrate solution was added as before. After the combined solution had boiled and changed color to a red solution, it was filtered with a $0.2 \mu m$ PTFE syringe filter into its storage container.

AuNP and Thiophenol Assays

Varying Thiophenol Concentration Assay

Assay performed with 4 different thiophenols (p-toluenethiol, o-toluenethiol, m-toluenethiol, and 2-methoxybenzenethiol) at concentrations of 100 ppm, 50 ppm, 10 ppm, and 5 ppm. The microwell plate loading scheme is shown in Table 2. AuNPs were also in each well. **Table 2.** AuNP and varying thiophenol assay set-up. A, B, C, and D are rows and 1-4 are columns.

	1 p-toluenethiol	2 o-toluenethiol	3 m-toluenethiol	4 2-methoxybenzenethiol
A -100 ppm				
B - 50 ppm				
C - 10 ppm				
D - 5 ppm				

AuNP and ppb Thiophenol Assay

Assays were performed using an equimolar mix of the four target thiophenols (p-toluenethiol, otoluenethiol, m-toluenethiol, and 2-methoxybenzenethiol) at total concentrations of 5ppb to 1000 ppb. The microwell plate loading scheme is shown in Table 3.

Microwell Plate Row	AuNP concentration, M	Thiophenol concentration, ppb
А	$7.5 * 10^{-9}$	1000
В	$7.5 * 10^{-9}$	500
С	$7.5 * 10^{-9}$	250
D	7.5 * 10 ⁻⁹	100
Е	7.5 * 10 ⁻⁹	50
F	7.5 * 10 ⁻⁹	10
G	7.5 * 10 ⁻⁹	5
Н	$7.5 * 10^{-9}$	0 (blank)

 Table 3. Thiophenol assay format.

Varying Thiophenol Concentration with different sized AuNP

This assay analyzed the effect of thiophenol concentration on detection with AuNP. A solution of p-toluenethiol was used. Certain volumes of AuNP and thiophenol (Table 6) were put into microwell plates (Table 4 and Table 5) and then a UV-Vis spectrum was collected in the wavelength range of 350 nm – 750 nm, using a SpectraMax 190 Microplate Reader. The total volume put into each microwell was 200 μ L.

Microwell Plate Row	AuNP concentration, M	Thiophenol concentration	
А	$1.17 * 10^{-9}$	0 (blank)	
В	$1.17 * 10^{-9}$	100 ppm	
С	$1.17 * 10^{-9}$	50 ppm	
D	$1.17 * 10^{-9}$	5 ppm	
Е	$1.17 * 10^{-9}$	500 ppb	
F	$1.17 * 10^{-9}$	50 ppb	

Table 4. Loading Scheme for AuNP A Experiment

 Table 5. Loading Scheme for AuNP B, C, and D Experiments

Microwell Plate Row	AuNP B Concentration, M	AuNP C Concentration, M	AuNP D Concentration, M	Thiophenol concentration
А	$7.71 * 10^{-10}$	$2.12 * 10^{-11}$	$3.45 * 10^{-12}$	100 ppm
В	$7.71 * 10^{-10}$	$2.12 * 10^{-11}$	$3.45 * 10^{-12}$	50 ppm
С	$7.71 * 10^{-10}$	$2.12 * 10^{-11}$	$3.45 * 10^{-12}$	5 ppm
D	$7.71 * 10^{-10}$	$2.12 * 10^{-11}$	$3.45 * 10^{-12}$	500 ppb
Е	$7.71 * 10^{-10}$	$2.12 * 10^{-11}$	$3.45 * 10^{-12}$	50 ppb
Н	7.71 * 10 ⁻¹⁰	2.12 * 10 ⁻¹¹	$3.45 * 10^{-12}$	0 (blank)

Microwell Contents	AuNP (µL)	1000 ppm p- toluenethiol (μL)	100 ppm p- toluenethiol (μL)	5 ppm p- toluenethiol (μL)	1 ppm p- toluenethiol (μL)	Methanol (µL)
AuNP A	125					75
AuNP A and 100 ppm thiophenol	125	20				55
AuNP A and 50 ppm thiophenol	125	10				65
AuNP A and 5 ppm thiophenol	125		10			65
AuNP A and 500 ppb thiophenol	125			20		55
AuNP A and 50 ppb thiophenol	125				10	65

Table 6. Volumes of constituents for AuNP and thiophenol assay

Results and Discussion

Gold Nanoparticle Synthesis

Beaker

Gold nanoparticles were synthesized following the beaker synthesis method. Figure 7 shows images of the synthetic results for AuNPs that were produced on 5/16/22.



Figure 7. Synthesis of gold nanoparticles. a) 20mL of 1mM HAuCl4 was brought to a boil. b) immediately following the addition of 3mL of 1% (w/w) sodium citrate solution. The combined solution became a deep blue color. c) after boiling, the solution turned a wine-red color within 1 minute. This is a solution of gold nanoparticles.

The size of the AuNPs was determined by collecting a UV-Vis spectrum for each of the solutions (Figure 8), identifying the surface plasmon resonance (spr) peak (the maximum absorbance), and using this value for A_{spr} in Equation 10 or Equation 11 to yield the AuNP diameter.¹⁶



Figure 8. UV-Vis Spectrum of AuNP made on 5/16/22 with the beaker method.

The surface plasmon resonance peak occurs at 520 nm with 1.4257 absorbance. The absorbance at 450 nm is 0.8976. Using Equation 11 from Haiss, the diameter of the AuNP is about 13 nm.¹⁶

Reflux and Filtering AuNP Synthesis

Gold nanoparticles were synthesized following the reflux and filtering method mentioned above. Four different sized AuNPs were made by adding different volumes of sodium citrate solution (1000 μ L, 750 μ L, 500 μ L, 300 μ L) designed to make 16 nm, 24.5 nm, 41 nm, and 71.5nm AuNPs, respectively. The amount of citrate solution necessary to generate the various diameters of AuNPs was determined using the method described by Frens et al (Table 1). ¹⁴ After synthesis, a UV-Vis spectrum was collected in the wavelength range of 450 nm – 750 nm, using a SpectraMax 190 Microplate Reader for each of the four AuNP solutions, A, B, C, and D, which are designed to be 16 nm, 24.5 nm, 41 nm, and 71.5nm diameter, respectively (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Absorbance spectra of AuNP A, B, C, and D.

A UV-Vis spectrum was collected in the wavelength range of 450 nm - 750 nm, using a SpectraMax 190 Microplate Reader. The A_{spr} and A₄₅₀ were extracted from the scan and used to find the calculated diameter of the AuNPs (Table 7).

	Lambda	Absorbance	Expected	Eq 10	Eq 11	Eq 12 diameter	Estimated
	(nm)		diameter	diameter	diameter	(nm)	Diameter
			(nm)	(nm)	(nm)	Valid 5 – 50	(nm)
				Valid 35 –	Valid 5 –	nm	
				100 nm	80 nm		
А	520	0.4169	16	9.4	13.6	13.6	13.6
	450	0.26	-				
В	530	0.4408	24.5	46.9	15.2	16.3	15.7
	450	0.2688					
С	530	0.4681	41	46.9	24.6	19.7	46.9
	450	0.2599					
D	550	0.3706	71.5	81.5	16.7	9.4	81.5
	450	0.2217					

Table 7. A_{spr}, A₄₅₀, expected diameter, and calculated diameter of AuNPs.

Equation 10 and 11 have certain ranges of diameters that they are valid for. Even in the ranges that they are both valid for, they provide different results. The estimated diameters for the synthesized AuNPs A, B, C, and D are 13 nm, 16 nm, 47 nm, and 81 nm, respectively. This was estimated by averaging the results from Equation 11 and Equation 12 for AuNP A, B, and C; and taking the result from Equation 10 for AuNP D.

AuNP and Thiophenol Assay

Varying Thiophenol Assay

The assay was performed with 4 different thiophenols (p-toluenethiol, o-toluenethiol, m-toluenethiol, and 2-methoxybenzenethiol at concentrations of 100 ppm, 50 ppm, 10 ppm, and 5 ppm (Figure 10). This assay tested how AuNPs with a 13 nm diameter aggregated for the 4

different thiophenols at varying concentrations. Before running the assay, it was hypothesized that AuNP would aggregate best for the thiophenols based on steric hinderance. So, p-toluenethiol would aggregate best followed by m-toluenethiol, o-toluenethiol, and 2-methoxybenzenethiol. It was also hypothesized that the AuNPs would aggregate more for the higher concentrations, which turned out to be incorrect. The AuNPs turned visibly blue almost immediately for all thiophenols and at all concentrations as seen in figure 10. A UV-Vis spectrum was collected in the wavelength range of 350 nm - 750 nm, using a SpectraMax 190 Microplate Reader 10 minutes after thiophenol addition.



Figure 10. Thiophenols and AuNPs assay. The thiophenols from left to right are p-toluenethiol, otoluenethiol, m-toluenethiol, and 2-methoxybenzenethiol. All thiophenols at all concentrations appear deep blue.

On the UV-Vis spectrum, the AuNPs aggregated for 5 ppm and 10 ppm concentrations of ptoluenethiol (Figure 11). For 50 ppm and 100 ppm of p-toluenethiol, the UV-Vis spectrum are significantly shifted to longer wavelengths, meaning that they are partially aggregated, but not to the extent that 5 ppm and 10 ppm of p-toluenethiol are. For p-toluenethiol, the lower concentrations were further along in the AuNP aggregation process than the higher concentrations. For AuNPs to be considered aggregated, the absorbance at 520nm (AuNP's surface plasmon resonance) needs to drop and the absorbance at a wavelength associated with aggregation needs to increase. For p-toluenethiol, even though the absorbance of 50 ppm and 100 ppm is the same as the lower concentrations at 710 nm, 50 ppm and 100 ppm have the same absorbance as AuNPs at 520 nm, meaning that they are only partially aggregated.



Figure 11. p-toluenethiol absorbance spectra. 5 ppm and 10 ppm are aggregated. 50 ppm and 100 ppm are partially aggregated.

The AuNPs aggregated for 5 ppm and 10 ppm concentrations of m-toluenethiol (Figure 12). For 50 ppm and 100 ppm of m-toluenethiol, the UV-Vis spectrum are significantly shifted to longer wavelengths, meaning that they are partially aggregated, but not to the extent that 5 ppm and 10 ppm of m-toluenethiol are. The 50 ppm spectra shifted a little more than the 100 ppm spectra, meaning that AuNPs with 50ppm m-toluenethiol are more aggregated than 100 ppm m-toluenethiol.



Figure 12. 10 ppm and 5 ppm are aggregated, and 100 ppm and 50 ppm are slightly aggregated for m-toluenethiol.

The AuNPs aggregated for 5 ppm and 10 ppm concentrations of o-toluenethiol (Figure 13). For 50 ppm and 100 ppm of o-toluenethiol, the UV-Vis spectrum are slightly shifted to longer wavelengths, meaning that they are partially aggregated, but not to the extent that 5 ppm and 10 ppm of o-toluenethiol are.



Figure 13. AuNP and o-toluenethiol absorbance spectra. 5 and 10 ppm induced aggregation while 50 and 100 ppm induced only slight aggregation.

The AuNPs aggregated for 5 ppm, 10 ppm and 50 ppm concentrations of 2-methobenzenethiol (Figure 14). For 100 ppm of 2-methoxbenzenethiol, the spectra is slightly shifted to longer wavelengths, meaning that it is partially aggregated. At 680nm, all the concentrations have an increased absorbance compared to AuNP. At 520 nm, only 100 ppm has a similar absorbance to AuNPs.



Figure 14. AuNP and 2-methobenzenethiol Absorbance Spectra, 5, 10, and 50 ppm are aggregated. 100 ppm is less aggregated.

The goal of this assay was to compare how different thiophenols caused the aggregation of the AuNPs. P-toluenethiol was expected to cause the most aggregation of AuNPs compared to the other thiophenols because it does not have as much steric hinderance as the other molecules. AuNPs with p-toluenethiol aggregated for 5 ppm and 10 ppm and partially aggregated for 50 ppm and 100 ppm. AuNPs with p-toluenethiol aggregated more than with m-toluenethiol or o-toluenethiol (Figure 15, 16). AuNPs with 2 – methoxybenzenethiol also aggregated for concentrations of 50 ppm.



Figure 15. The absorbance at 520 nm of the 4 thiophenols at varying concentrations. Lower absorbance than that of AuNP indicates aggregation or partial aggregation.



Figure 16. The absorbance at 680 nm of the 4 thiophenols at varying concentrations. Higher absorbance than that of AuNP indicates aggregation or partial aggregation.

Interestingly, with all thiophenols tested in this assay, lower concentrations of thiophenols induced stronger aggregation. The reason for this is unclear, but the results are consistent. It could be because at higher thiophenol concentrations, the thiophenols begin to act as a stabilizing ligand, coating the surface, instead of a destabilizing the citrate cap and changing the surface charge. Regardless of the reason, this is good news for detection because the goal is to detect lower concentrations.

AuNP and ppb Thiophenol Assay

This assay was performed with a mix of the 4 thiophenols with concentrations from 1000 ppb to 5 ppb to see how AuNPs with a diameter of 13 nm aggregated (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Low concentration thiophenols and AuNPs assay. A mix of all 4 thiophenols were used. 1000 ppb and 500 ppb are deep blue, 250 ppb is purple, and the rest are a similar wine red as the control.

The UV-Vis absorbance spectra of the low concentration thiophenols and AuNPs assay confirms what is seen visually (Figure 18). 1000 ppb and 500 ppb are aggregated, and 250 ppb is partially aggregated. All the other concentrations have very similar absorbance spectra to the AuNP control, indicating that they are not aggregated. AuNPs will aggregate for 500 ppb thiophenols.



Figure 18. The UV-Vis absorbance spectra of the low concentration thiophenols and AuNPs assay. 1000 ppb and 500 ppb are aggregated, and 250 ppb is partially aggregated.

Varying Thiophenol Concentration with Different Sized AuNP

For these assays, four sizes of AuNPs are used to determine what effect AuNP diameter has on aggregation due to thiophenols. They are estimated to be 13, 16, 47, and 81 nm in diameter, labeled AuNP A, AuNP B, AuNP C, and AuNP D, respectively. Thiophenol was added to each well in concentrations varying from 50 ppb to 100 ppm. The assay pictures at different times relative to thiophenol addition are shown in figures 19, 20, 21, and 22. The absorbance spectra of AuNP A, AuNP B, AuNP C, and AuNP D are shown in figures 23, 24, 25, and 26, respectively. AuNP A

aggregated for 5ppm and 500ppb. AuNP B aggregated for only 500 ppb. AuNP C aggregated for 5ppm and 500 ppb. AuNP D aggregated for 500 ppb and 100 ppm. AuNPs A and C performed better by aggregating for the most thiophenol concentrations.



Figure 19. AuNP A (13 nm) with 100 ppm, 50 ppm, 5 ppm, 500 ppb, 50 ppb thiophenol in rows B-F. Control AuNP A is in row A. A) Before adding thiophenol. B) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition. 100 ppm and 50 ppm are purple. 5 ppm and 500 ppb are blue, indicating aggregation. 50 ppb is still the original red. C) 20 minutes after thiophenol addition. Colors are similar to Figure 25 B.



Figure 20. AuNP B (16 nm) with 100 ppm, 50 ppm, 5 ppm, 500 ppb, 50 ppb thiophenol in rows A-E. Control AuNP B is in row H. A) Before adding thiophenol. B) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition. 100 ppm, 50 ppm, and 5 ppm are purple. 500 ppb is blue, indicating aggregation. 50 ppb is still the original red.



Figure 21. AuNP C (47 nm) with 100 ppm, 50 ppm, 5 ppm, 500 ppb, 50 ppb thiophenol in rows A-E. Control AuNP C is in row H. A) Before adding thiophenol. B) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition.

100 ppm and 50 ppm are purple. 5 ppm and 500 ppb are blue, indicating aggregation. 50 ppb is still the original red. C) 24 hours after thiophenol addition, all wells are aggregated.



Figure 22. AuNP D (81 nm) with 100 ppm, 50 ppm, 5 ppm, 500 ppb, 50 ppb thiophenol in rows A-E. Control AuNP D is in row H. A) Before adding thiophenol. B) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition. 50 ppm and 5 ppm are purple. 100 ppm and 500 ppb are blue, indicating aggregation. 50 ppb is still the original redish color. C) 24 hours after thiophenol addition, wells A, B, and D appear aggregated.





Figure 23. Absorbance of AuNP A (13 nm) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition.

Figure 24. Absorbance of AuNP B (16 nm)10 minutes after thiophenol addition.



Figure 25. Absorbance of AuNP C (47 nm) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition.



Figure 26. Absorbance of AuNP D (81 nm) 10 minutes after thiophenol addition.

The absorbance at 710 nm is a good indicator for aggregation. Absorbance values more than the AuNP absorbance are either partially aggregated or aggregated. Figure 27 compares these four AuNPs in one figure. Larger difference in absorbance from AuNP absorbance, represented by the black dashed line, indicate more complete aggregation. The colors of each bar represent the aggregation state of each sample. Blue indicates complete aggregation, purple indicates partial aggregation, and red indicates no aggregation. 13 nm, 47 nm, and 81nm AuNPs aggregated for two different concentrations. Looking at Figure 26 and Figure 22 suggest that 81 nm is not the best diameter AuNP to work with because of the faintness of its colors visually. Both 13 nm and 47 nm AuNPs aggregated for 5 ppm and 500 ppb concentrations of p-toluenethiol. The UV-Vis spectrum scan (Figure 25) of 47 nm diameter AuNPs of the same concentrations. Therefore, 47 nm diameter AuNPs offers the best aggregation induced by thiophenols out of the options tested.



Figure 27. Absorbances at 710 nm for each AuNP. Blue indicates complete aggregation, purple indicates partial aggregation, and red indicates no aggregation.

Conclusions

AuNPs do aggregate in the presence of thiophenols. AuNP aggregation depends on both thiophenol concentration and AuNP diameter. AuNPs aggregate best when the thiophenol concentration is between 50 ppm and 500 ppb. 47 nm diameter AuNPs aggregated the best in the presence of thiophenols. AuNPs aggregated for thiophenols down to a concentration of 500 ppb. The proposed AuNP-based colorimetric assay offers a rapid, simple, and effective method for the detection of thiophenols and has the potential to be further developed for other applications in environmental and biological sensing.

Future Work

Gold nanoparticles have the advantage of being rapid and colorimetric for detection. However, they are not specific to thiophenols, and the results are qualitative not quantitative. It would be prudent to experiment with methods that have specificity for thiophenols with quantitative potential. Erin and I worked together to make a fluorescent probe that is specific to thiophenols and Erin performed experiments showing that it has a high sensitivity and specificity for thiophenols. Future work for that could be conjugating the probe to a cellulose surface and running the detection experiments with thiophenol-spiked grape juice. Another detection method to try would be using gold nanoparticles conjugated with DSP-GSSG.¹⁷ This method is specific to thiols. The conjugated AuNPs are aggregated together and in the presence of thiols unaggregated.

References:

- Kazem-Rostami, M.; Khazaei, A.; Moosavi-Zare, A.; Bayat, M.; Saednia, S. Novel One-Pot Synthesis of Thiophenols from Related Triazenes under Mild Conditions. *Synlett* 2012, 23 (13), 1893–1896. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1316557</u>.
- Persis Amrolia; Stephen Gene Sullivan; Stern, A.; Munday, R. Toxicity of Aromatic Thiols in the Human Red Blood Cell. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **1989**, *9* (2), 113–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.2550090208</u>.
- Ma, J.; Chen, Y.; Xu, Y.; Wei, Y.; Meng, D.; Wang, B.; Zhang, Z. Monitoring Thiophenols in Both Environmental Water Samples and Bio-Samples: A Method Based on a Fluorescent Probe with Broad PH Adaptation. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 2022, 233, 113340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113340.
- Tomasino, E.; Cerrato, D. C.; Aragon, M.; Fryer, J.; Garcia, L.; Ashmore, P. L.; Collins, T. S. A Combination of Thiophenols and Volatile Phenols Cause the Ashy Flavor of Smoke Taint in Wine. *Food Chemistry Advances* 2023, 2, 100256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.focha.2023.100256.
- Krstic, M. P.; Johnson, D. L.; Herderich, M. J. Review of Smoke Taint in Wine: Smoke-Derived Volatile Phenols and Their Glycosidic Metabolites in Grapes and Vines as Biomarkers for Smoke Exposure and Their Role in the Sensory Perception of Smoke Taint. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 2015, 21, 537–553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajgw.12183</u>.
- Sani, A.; Cao, C.; Cui, D. Toxicity of Gold Nanoparticles (AuNPs): A Review. Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports 2021, 26, 100991. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrep.2021.100991.

- Yeh, Y.-C.; Creran, B.; Rotello, V. M. Gold Nanoparticles: Preparation, Properties, and Applications in Bionanotechnology. *Nanoscale* 2012, *4* (6), 1871–1880. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1nr11188d.
- Jiang, W.; Fu, Q.; Fan, H.; Ho, J.; Wang, W. A Highly Selective Fluorescent Probe for Thiophenols. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 2007, *46* (44), 8445–8448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200702271</u>.
- Zhang, F. X.; Han, L.; Israel, L. B.; Daras, J. G.; Maye, M. M.; Ly, N. K.; Chuan Jian Zhong. Colorimetric Detection of Thiol-Containing Amino Acids Using Gold Nanoparticles. *Analyst* 2002, *127* (4), 462–465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/b200007e</u>.
- Xue, Y.; Li, X.; Li, H.; Zhang, W. Quantifying Thiol–Gold Interactions towards the Efficient Strength Control. *Nature Communications* 2014, 5 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5348.
- 11. Park, J.-W.; Shumaker-Parry, J. S. Structural Study of Citrate Layers on Gold Nanoparticles: Role of Intermolecular Interactions in Stabilizing Nanoparticles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2014, *136* (5), 1907–1921. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja4097384.
- Weisbecker, C. S.; Merritt, M. V.; Whitesides, G. M. Molecular Self-Assembly of Aliphatic Thiols on Gold Colloids. *Langmuir* 1996, *12* (16), 3763–3772. https://doi.org/10.1021/la950776r.
- Turkevich, J.; Stevenson, P. C.; Hillier, J. A Study of the Nucleation and Growth Processes in the Synthesis of Colloidal Gold. *Discussions of the Faraday Society* 1951, *11*, 55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/df9511100055</u>.

- 14. Frens, G. Controlled Nucleation for the Regulation of the Particle Size in Monodisperse Gold Suspensions. *Nature Physical Science* 1973, 241 (105), 20–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/physci241020a0</u>.
- Kumar, S.; Gandhi, K. S.; Kumar, R. Modeling of Formation of Gold Nanoparticles by Citrate Method[†]. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research* 2007, *46* (10), 3128–3136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ie060672j</u>.
- Haiss, W.; Thanh, N. T. K.; Aveyard, J.; Fernig, D. G. Determination of Size and Concentration of Gold Nanoparticles from UV–Vis Spectra. *Analytical Chemistry* 2007, 79 (11), 4215–4221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ac0702084</u>.
- Durocher, Suzanne, "Applications of gold nanoparticles to thiol and nitric oxide chemistry" (2009). Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 7974. <u>https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/7974</u>